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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 

Adam Pevan, Petitioner, was the appellant in the Court

of Appeals on direct review of a criminal conviction.  He asks

the Court to grant review of a portion of the decision issued by

Division Two in State v. Pevan, __ Wn. App.2d __ (2023 WL

6846201) (unpublished), issued October 17, 2023.  A copy of

the decision is attached as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996),

State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 927 P.2 235 (1996), and

their progeny, this Court held that the constitutional

harmless error standard applies when a prosecutor or a

witness makes a statement which amounts to a

comment on the accused having exercised his or her

Fifth Amendment and Article 1, § 9 rights.  

Mr. Pevan did not testify below and presented no

witnesses in his defense.  In closing argument, the

prosecutor repeatedly told the jury that they had to rely

only on the version of events given by the State’s

witnesses, because they “don’t have any other

evidence. . . none,” to dispute claims made by State’s

witnesses when those claims could only have been

refuted by the nontestifying accused.

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that this
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Court’s decision in State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741,

278 P.3d 653 (2012), had overruled Easter and all

similar cases so that constitutional harmless error

review no longer applies to comments inviting a

negative inference from the exercise of Fifth

Amendment and Article 1, § 9 rights of the

accused?

2. Are such comments fundamentally different than

other kinds of misconduct and is constitutional

harmless error the only appropriate standard?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the

comments were not improper where the

comments were about the jurors having been

presented “no evidence” to dispute the State’s

witness’ version of events and Mr. Pevan was the

only person who could have testified to the

contrary?

4. On review, should the Court reverse where the

State cannot meet its burden on appeal of

proving no reasonable factfinder would have

failed to convict even absent the improper

comments?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural facts

Petitioner Adam Pevan was charged with and convicted

of attempted second-degree burglary after jury trial in July of

2



2022, after which a standard-range sentence was imposed. 

CP 10, 75-87; RP 1, 512-26, 1RP 1; RCW 9A.52.030; RCW

9A.28.020.1  Mr. Pevan appealed and, on October 17, 2023, the

Court of Appeals, Division Two, affirmed the conviction but

remanded to strike a victim penalty assessment.  See CP 88-

99; App. A at 1.

This Petition follows.  

2. Overview of testimony and facts relating to issues

Petitioner Adam Pevan was accused of attempted 

burglary of Aaron Armga’s part-time business.  RP 281-88.  Mr.

Armga was awakened at about four in the morning by the

“Ring” alarm camera he had set up which showed him a short

video of someone wearing dark clothing, a mask, and a hood

over their head, carrying a grey backpack, near the business’

back door.  RP 281-88.  Mr. Armga drove over to investigate

1
The verbatim report of proceedings contains of four volumes.  All but

the suppression hearing are chronologically paginated and referred to

herein as “RP.”  The suppression hearing is not at issue but was referred

to below as “1RP.”  
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and he saw a woman nearby, later identified as Brittany

Faulkner.  RP 291-303.  However, Mr. Armga was clear that

“[t]here was no one near the back door” of his business when

he arrived.  RP 291, 303.  

After confronting Ms. Faulkner, who was in dark

clothing, Mr. Armga walked around to the front of another

business and saw someone in dark clothes, wearing a mask,

carrying a gray backpack.  RP 291-303.  Mr. Armga told the

person, who appeared to be a man, that police were on the

way.  RP 291-303.  The man ran away towards the nearby post

office.  RP 293, 304.  

Meanwhile, Yelm Police Officer David Nissen had arrived

and called for a “K9" handler and dog.  RP 293.  Once they were

there, they started a “track” at Mr. Armga’s business’ back

door, then headed towards the post office parking lot, where

the dog tracked at an angle directly towards Ms. Faulkner and a

man who were walking nearby.  RP 346-37, 420-31.  Ms.
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Faulkner was wearing a backpack which she dropped or tossed

when the officers ordered her and the man, later identified as

Mr. Pevan, to stop.  RP 346-47, 423, 431-32.  The “K9" handler

said the dog communicated that “he’s located the source of the

odor” by barking and when the dog “indicated” on the

backpack.  RP 423-24. 

Inside the backpack police found “[b]olt cutters, a

hammer, two small pocket knives, a socket wrench, and a

flashlight,” some credit cards associated with Ms. Faulkner,

some cosmetics, some blank checks, and one check made out

to Mr. Pevan.  RP 344-59, 381. 

    The identification of Mr. Pevan as the person who was 

at the back door trying to open it came from Mr. Armga, 

who was not wearing his glasses when he watched the initial

video.  Id.  That video, which was played at trial, was of

extremely poor quality and it was not possible to identify even

what the person in it was holding.  RP 288, 291, 303.  Mr.

5



Armga put his glasses on and viewed the camera “live” -

without recording - for a few moments and thought he could

see that the person involved was a man.  He admitted,

however, that the unrecorded transmission he watched for a

few moments was of the same extremely bad quality as the

recording jurors were shown.  RP 288, 302-303.  

Mr. Armga was brought to a show-up on the scene and

asked to “identify the suspect” police “had detained.”   RP 295,

305-306.  Mr. Armga admitted the man he was shown did not

have a mask or backpack like the man he had seen but the man

was in dark clothing and Mr. Armga thought the backpack

looked the same; Mr. Armga said it was the person he had seen

on the video.  RP 295-97. 

There were no tests done on anything found in the pack

to see if Mr. Pevan had ever handled them or they belonged to

Ms. Faulkner.  RP 313-17, 329.

At trial, Mr. Pevan exercised his constitutional rights not

6



to testify and counsel did not put on a defense case.  RP 436. 

Thus, the only witnesses called and evidence admitted were

presented by the State.  

Throughout his closing argument, the prosecutor

repeatedly invoked the idea that jurors had been presented “no

evidence” to dispute the state’s case, including in situations

where only Mr. Pevan could have provided the missing

evidence.  Most significantly, in rebuttal closing argument, the

State’s attorney told jurors:

There is no evidence that I recall - - Deputy Bagby said

uncontaminated.  The last known uncontaminated area

where the suspect was was [sic] at the back door.  When

did Mr. Armga say he went to the back door?  We know

he went when he came back, saw the damage.  He

testified to that.  He testified that when he got there,

he actually confronted the individual that he saw on

the video still dressed in all black wearing the

backpack. You don’t have any other evidence than

that, none. 

RP 490 (emphasis added).  

A moment later, the prosecutor again told jurors:

Mr. Armga confronted the defendant at the location

7



of his business wearing the backpack that he

observed, the same person trying to pry the door. 

That’s the evidence you have.  That’s it.

RP 491 (emphasis added).  

On review, Mr. Pevan argued, inter alia, that these

arguments were impermissible comments on his exercise of his

rights to silence - more specifically, his Fifth Amendment and

Article 1, § 9, rights to be free from having to testify.  Brief of

Appellant (BOA), at 1-2, 19-27.  Only Mr. Pevan could have

testified to dispute that he was “confronted” by Mr. Armga by

the back door or that he was the person who had committed

the crime, as the prosecutor declared.  And in fact Mr. Armga

never testified that he had confronted anyone by the back door

and explicitly stated, when asked, that his encounter with the

man later identified as Mr. Pevan was not by that back door and

was later, not right when he arrived.  See RP 291-303.

In upholding the conviction, Division Two dismissed

those arguments, minimized the severity of the comments,
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and refused to apply the constitutional harmless error

standard, instead holding that this Court’s decision in Emery

had overturned Easter and similar cases and a non-

constitutional harmless error standard should apply.  App. A at

10 n. 2.  

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THE

PROSECUTOR REPEATEDLY COMMENTED ON MR.

PEVAN’S EXERCISE OF HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT AND

ARTICLE 1,§ 9 RIGHTS AND THE COURT OF APPEALS

HELD FOR THE FIRST TIME THAT THIS COURT’S

DECISION IN EMERY REVERSED EASTER AND SIMILAR

CASES APPLYING CONSTITUTIONAL HARMLESS

ERROR REVIEW  

It is well-settled by this Court that the State “can take no

action which will unnecessarily ‘chill’ or penalize the assertion

of a constitutional right” nor “draw adverse inferences from

[its] exercise[.]”  See State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 705, 683

P.2d 571 (1984).  It is also well-settled that, under both the Fifth

Amendment and Article 1, § 9, the accused have the right to

remain silent, including the right to decide not to testify at trial. 
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See State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 806-07, 147 P.3d 1201

(2006), overruled in part and other grounds by, State v.W.R., Jr.,

181 Wn.2d 757, 764, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014); Griffin v. California,

380 U.S. 609, 609-15, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965).  

The prosecution thus must not use the decision not to

testify against the accused.  State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 306,

352 P.3d 161 (2015).  Indeed, comment on the failure to testify

is seen as a remnant of the inquisitorial system of criminal

justice our country rejected.  See e.g., Murphy v. Waterfront

Comm’n, 378 U.S. 52, 55, 84 S. Ct. 1594, 12 L. Ed. 2d 678 (1964). 

When such an improper comment occurs, this Court has

applied the constitutional harmless error test.  See Easter, 130

Wn.2d at 238-39, 242.  And the Court of Appeals has followed. 

See, e.g., State v. Romero, 113 Wn. App. 779, 793, 54 P.3d 1255

(2002); State v. Keene, 86 Wn. App. 589, 594, 938 P.2d 839

(1997).  

Until this case.  Here, the Court of Appeals first dismissed
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the comments as not improper, then held that this Court’s

decision in Emery had overturned the holdings of Easter and

the entire line of cases requiring application of the standard of

constitutional harmless error where the misconduct involves

comment on the exercise of Fifth Amendment and Article 1, §

9, rights.  App. A at 1-11.  

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1),

because Division Two’s holding is in direct conflict with this

Court’s holdings in Easter and similar cases, and improperly

extended Emery beyond its reach.  Further, review should be

granted under RAP 13.4(b)(2), because the Court of Appeals

has followed Easter in several cases and the decision in this

case conflicts with those holdings.  Finally, review should be

granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the issues in this case

involve the significant constitutional question of what amounts

to improper comment and how to protect the fundamental

Fifth Amendment and Article 1, § 9, rights of the accused and
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whether Division Two’s adoption of a far lesser, non-

constitutional standard fails to provide adequate protection.  

Not every comment which touches upon a constitutional

right is an impermissible comment on its exercise.  See State v.

Miller, 110 Wn. App. 283, 284, 40 P.3d 692, review denied, 147

Wn.2d 1011 (2002), overruled in part and on other grounds by

State v. Martin, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011).  But a

prosecutor improperly comments on a defendant’s silence and

makes statements which appear manifestly intended to

amount to such a comment when he declares certain State’s

evidence “undenied” and the only person who could have

provided the denial is the non-testifying accused.  See State v.

Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 729, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995); State

v. Reed, 25 Wn. App. 46, 49, 604 P.2d 1330 (1979).  In holding

that there was no improper comment here, the Court of

Appeals asked if someone else could have seen the video and

testified that the person Mr. Armga saw had the same clothing,
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backpack, and mask that he had seen in the security video and

compared it to Mr. Pevan’s appearance that night.  App. A at 8. 

This analysis is both incorrect and incomplete.  The issue was

not whether Mr. Pevan looked similar to the person on the

video.  The State’s claim was that Mr. Armga had confronted

Mr. Pevan that early morning - in a mask - for several minutes.  

Only two people were present if that occurred; Mr.

Armga and Mr. Pevan.  Mr. Armga had already testified on

behalf of the State.  And he had discussed the encounter he

said the two had.  The only person who had not testified about

the alleged encounter was Mr. Pevan.  He was the only other

person present and the only one who could have disputed what

Mr. Armga said about the interaction.  The prosecutor’s

arguments were obviously intended to refer to Mr. Pevan’s

failure to testify and dispute Mr. Armga’s claims.  

The Court of Appeals focused only on whether someone

else could have compared what was in the video to what Mr.

13



Armga said.  That is the job of the jury, to view the evidence,

and that does not answer the question.  The prosecutor’s

comments here were not about whether the video and

description matched; they were comments about whether

anyone had rebutted what Mr. Armga said occurred - whether

the man he encountered with a mask was Mr. Pevan, and

whether than man was guilty. The prosecutor declared that Mr.

Armga testified that he had “actually confronted the

individual” he had seen on the video, and “[y]ou don’t have any

other evidence than that, none.”  RP 490.  The prosecutor also

said that jurors also did not have any evidence other than that

the man Mr. Armga confronted was Mr. Pevan and that Mr.

Pevan was “the same person trying to pry the door.”  RP 491.

Any reasonable juror would naturally and necessarily

view these comments as referring to Mr. Pevan’s failure to take

the stand to deny not only that he was the man Mr. Pevan had

confronted but also that he was the person seen on the video

14



and live feed committing the crime.  Only Mr. Pevan could

deny that he was the man Mr. Armga had confronted.  Only he

could dispute Mr. Armga’s testimony that Mr. Pevan was the

person Mr. Armga had seen on the Ring camera video and live

feed.  Only Mr. Pevan could have testified that he was not the

person seen trying to pry open the door.  The prosecutor’s

comments were clear references to Mr. Pevan’s failure to

testify and deny his guilt.  And they were made by a

prosecutor, whose argument is “likely to have significant

persuasive force with the jury” because of “the prestige

associated with the prosecutor’s office.”  State v. Glassman, 

175 Wn.2d 696, 706, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) (quoting, Comments,

American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice std. 3-

5.8).

The Court of Appeals also declared that these

statements about Mr. Armga having “actually confronted the

individual” he had seen on the video at the business’ back door

15



were somehow not misstatements of the record.  RP 490, 491;

see App. A at 11.  But Mr. Armga repeatedly testified that he

encountered no one near the back door, not when he arrived,

nor later.  RP 291, 304.  Indeed, he specifically testified that he

did not interact with the man at the back door, declaring,“[h]e

was not at the back door when he interacted with me” and

“[h]e was at a different business.”  RP 304.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the comments

here were not improper comments on Mr. Pevan’s

constitutionally protected decision not to testify, and this

Court should grant review and so hold.  It should then reject

Division Two’s claim that Emery overturned Easter and similar

cases and should reaffirm that constitutional harmless error

standards must apply.

Under the constitutional harmless error test, the error is

presumed prejudicial and reversal is required unless and until

the State meets a heavy burden of proving the error harmless

16



beyond a reasonable doubt.  See State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 

331, 441 P.2d 10 (2002), overruled in part and on other grounds

by, In re the Personal Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56

P.3d 981 (2002); see Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 242.  It only meets

that burden if it shows 1) that there is evidence untainted by

the error, and 2) that untainted evidence is so overwhelming

that any and every reasonable juror would not have hesitated

to convict even if the error had not occurred.  Easter, 130 Wn.2d

at 242; see State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 42-26, 705 P.2d 1182

(1985).  If the State fails to meet this burden, the accused is

entitled to a new trial.  Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 242; Guloy, 104

Wn.2d at 426.  

The Court of Appeals decision was based on its belief

that Emery overturned Easter and all the other cases applying

the constitutional harmless error standard to such comments. 

App. A at 10 n.2.  According to the lower appellate court, Emery

“expressly rejected the application of the constitutional

17



harmless error test in evaluating prejudice in prosecutorial

misconduct claims and has since then repeatedly reaffirmed

that the test set forth in Emery is the controlling test.”  Id. 

Division Two found only one “narrow exception” set forth in

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011),

where the misconduct of the prosecutor involves appeals to

racial bias.  Id.

But that is not the holding of Emery.  In that case, the

defense asked the Court to extend constitutional harmless

error to cover misconduct the Court had previously held was

curable and subject to nonconstitutional harmless error review. 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 757; see, e.g., State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d

17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cert. denied sub nom Warren v.

Washington, 556 U.S. 1192 (2009).  That misconduct involved

comments by the prosecutor misstating the law of due

process, such as on its burden of proof or the presumption of

innocence.  Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 757.  
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In declining the invitation to overturn prior cases and

extend constitutional harmless error protections to new types

of misconduct , this Court explicitly reaffirmed the holding of

Easter - and recognized that Easter and Monday represented

two situations where “[w]e have long held that the

constitutional harmless error standard applies to direct

constitutional claims involving prosecutors’ improper

arguments.”  Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 757.  This Court should grant

review to address whether, as Division Two here held, Emery

overruled Easter and changed the law so that the constitutional

harmless error standard of review is now limited just to cases

involving racial bias like in Monday.  

Finally, constitutional harmless error review is the only

standard which will provide adequate protection for this unique

kind of misconduct.  Unlike misconduct in misstating the law,

which can often be cured with instruction, comments inviting

negative inferences from the “failure” of the accused to speak
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or testify are themselves a violation of the constitutional rights,

because they invite a negative inference from the exercise of

the right to silence.  Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 328-29.  And the

harm such violations cause involves prejudice which is

enduring, as a “bell once rung cannot be unrung.”  Easter, 130

Wn.2d at 238-39, 242.  

Further, there is a fundamental difference between a

prosecutor misstating their due process burden and a

prosecutor inviting jurors to draw a negative inference from

exercise of a constitutional right.  Although both involve due

process concerns, the right to be free from testifying does not

just stem from the due process right to have the State bear the

full weight of the burden of proving guilt.  In re Winship, 397

U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); W.R., Jr.,

181 Wn.2d at 761-62.  Comments on the exercise of Fifth

Amendment and Article 1,§ 9 rights are not just misstatements

of the law which could potentially be cured by instruction- such

20



comments themselves amount to a governmental penalty or

chilling of exercise of fundamental rights.  The Court of

Appeals decision holding that constitutional harmless error no

longer applies to misconduct involving such comments is in

direct conflict with Easter in this Court and cases like Romero

and Keene in the Court of Appeals, does not comport with and

is not consistent with Emery, and affects the fundamental

rights to be free from self-incrimination under the state and

federal constitutions.
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E. CONCLUSION

This Court should grant review to address the improper

comments and erroneous rulings in this case.  On review, it

should hold that the comments drawing negative inferences

from Mr. Pevan’s decision not to testify were improper, that

Emery did not overruled Easter and similar cases, and that the

constitutional harmless error standard still applies.  Because

the untainted evidence in this case is far from overwhelming,

reversal and remand for a new trial is required.

DATED this 16th day of November, 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

Kathryn Russell Selk, No. 23879. 

Counsel for Petitioner

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE
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(206) 782-3353

ESTIMATED WORD COUNT 3611

22



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 57286-9-II

Respondent, 

v.

ADAM WESLEY PEVAN, UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Appellant.

CRUSER, A.C.J. — Adam Wesley Pevan appeals his conviction for attempted second 

degree burglary. Pevan argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by (1) impermissibly 

commenting on his silence, (2) shifting the burden to Pevan, (3) misstating the evidence in the 

State’s favor, and (4) improperly bolstering State witnesses. He further argues that the cumulative 

effect of repeated improper comments warrant reversal even if each instance does not alone merit 

reversal. Pevan also claims ineffective assistance of counsel and asks that we remand for the court 
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$500 VPA.

Filed
Washington State
Court of Appeals

Division Two

October 17, 2023



No. 57286-9-II

2

FACTS

On December 5, 2021, Aaron Armga was awakened around 4:00 AM by an alert from his 

business’ security camera. When he watched the recording, he saw someone at the back door of 

his business wearing dark clothing and carrying a gray backpack. The person was wearing a mask 

and hood, and their face was not visible. Armga then watched the camera’s live feed and saw the 

individual trying to open the back door of the business, but this portion of the video was not 

recorded or saved to Armga’s phone. Armga’s wife called the police while Armga drove to the 

business to investigate. 

Upon arriving at the business, Armga did not see anyone at the back door, but saw a woman 

nearby. He confronted the woman and they spoke briefly. Then, he saw a man elsewhere in the 

business park who was wearing dark clothes and a mask and carrying a gray backpack. Armga 

thought the man looked like the person he saw on his security video, so Armga confronted the 

man. Armga told the man that police were on the way, and the man fled. At this point, Armga had 

not seen the back door, but he later returned and found that it was damaged. 

Officer Nissen, the only on-duty officer of Yelm Police Department, soon arrived. The first 

person he saw was Brianna Faulkner, a woman he recognized, and he began questioning Faulkner. 

Then, Nissen saw a man dressed in dark clothing running toward the post office carrying a 

backpack. He then saw Armga, who approached him, showed him the video recording, and 

directed him to the area where Armga had last seen the man. Nissen then called for backup 

including K9 assistance and perimeter units. 

Thurston County Deputy Devin Bagby and tracking dog Jaxx responded to the scene. Jaxx 

was introduced to the scent at the back door of Armga’s business and commanded to track the 
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person who last touched the door. Bagby chose the back door because it was “uncontaminated” 

meaning no other odor had been introduced after the suspect tampered with the door. Verbatim 

Report of Proceedings (VRP) at 416. Jaxx led the officers to the post office parking lot and toward 

two people, who Nissen recognized from past contacts as Pevan and Faulkner. Pevan was wearing 

black and Faulkner was carrying the gray backpack. Deputy Bagby shouted at them to stop, and 

they complied. Faulkner discarded the backpack before she and Pevan walked toward the officers. 

When Jaxx was about ten feet away from Faulkner and Pevan, he barked at them to signal 

he had found the odor he was tracking. Bagby then led Jaxx to the backpack, and Jaxx indicated 

that the person being tracked had handled the backpack. Officer Nissen searched the backpack and 

found “[b]olt cutters, a hammer, two small pocket knives, a socket wrench, and a flashlight.” Id.

at 349. He also found Faulkner’s credit cards, cosmetics, blank checks, and a check made out to 

Pevan. After searching the backpack, Nissen placed Pevan and Faulkner under arrest. 

The State charged Pevan with attempted second degree burglary. Pevan declared that he 

did not have money to hire a private attorney and was found indigent for purposes of appointing 

counsel. 

Pevan’s case proceeded to trial, where Pevan rested his case without presenting any 

witnesses or introducing any evidence. In closing, Pevan focused on the possible contamination of 

the back door and how that would impact Jaxx’s ability to track accurately. The State made the 

following argument without objection from defense counsel:

[I]f at any time I misstate or reference something that’s not in agreement 
collectively with your memory or notes, it is not intentional. Please defer to your 
memory and notes.

Id. at 467.
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Again, you are the sole judges of the credibility of those witnesses and what interest 
they may have. I would argue they came in and did the best they could.

Id. (emphasis added).

So I’d ask you to consider the evidence and only the evidence that was 
presented to you, not our argument, not maybes, not could haves, who knows. 
That’s not what you evaluate. You evaluate the evidence.

Id. at 491-92.

What we say is not evidence. How many maybes did [defense counsel] use? Maybe. 
That’s not what the evidence was. Could be. That’s not what the evidence was.

The evidence before you is that Mr. Armga saw an individual dressed 
exactly like the defendant was dressed wearing the backpack that he, when he 
confronted him, still had on his [security] video.

Id. at 488.

Officer Nissen comes and does the best job he can under the circumstances. 
He talked about it. Yelm police has low resources right now. There’s nobody else. 
He had to receive some assistance. A perimeter was set up.

Id. at 478-79 (emphasis added).

You can have multiple human odor sources on a particular item, and his dog, Jaxx, 
is trained to differentiate between them. That’s the evidence that you’ll find. You 
don’t have evidence of anything other than that.

Id. at 472 (emphasis added).

[Bagby] even testified there could be multiple odor sources. He testified to that. 
And the olfactory abilities of his dog allows his dog to differentiate. That’s the only 
evidence you have, nothing to the contrary. That is the only evidence you have in 
regards to K9 Jaxx.

Id. at 490 (emphasis added).

Deputy Bagby [(handler)] said uncontaminated. The last known uncontaminated 
area where the suspect was was at the back door. When did Mr. Armga say he went 
to the back door? We know he went when he came back, saw the damage. He 
testified to that. He testified that when he got there, he actually confronted the 
individual that he saw on the video still dressed in all black wearing the backpack. 
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You don’t have any other evidence than that, none. And he runs away exactly where 
Jaxx goes, not where Ms. Faulkner went. Where the individual dressed in black 
wearing the backpack went is where Jaxx went. You have no evidence of where 
Ms. Faulkner went. You have all the evidence of where the man dressed in black 
later identified as Mr. Pevan went. It’s exactly where Jaxx went.

Id. at 489 (emphasis added).

Mr. Armga confronted the defendant at the location of his business wearing 
the backpack that he observed, the same person trying to pry the door. That’s the 
evidence you have. That’s it.

Id. at 491 (emphasis added).

Now, why the . . . video surveillance system doesn’t record when you switch 
to a live feed, I don’t know, but there’s no reason to discount what Mr. Armga said 
that he saw. Why? Because he got dressed and got out of bed and went down to his 
business because what he saw was that same individual prying on the back door of 
his business, trying to get inside. Why else would he get up at 4 o’clock in the 
morning and go down if what he said is not accurate?

Id. at 468 (emphasis added).

A jury convicted Pevan of attempted second degree burglary. Pevan was sentenced to 4.125 

months confinement and ordered to pay a $500 VPA. The court noted that the VPA was required 

and that it did not have discretion to waive the fee due to indigency. Pevan was again found 

indigent for the purpose of this appeal. 

DISCUSSION

Pevan contends that the prosecutor committed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct in 

closing by (1) commenting on Pevan’s exercise of his constitutional right to silence, (2) shifting 

the burden to Pevan, (3) misstating the evidence in the State’s favor, and (4) improperly bolstering 

police witnesses. In the alternative, he argues that his counsel was ineffective in failing to object 

to the prosecutor’s comments. Finally, Pevan asks that we remand for the $500 VPA to be stricken. 

We hold that Pevan has shown neither flagrant misconduct or ineffective assistance of counsel, 
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and therefore affirm his conviction. However, we remand for the court to consider whether to 

waive the $500 VPA. 

I. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

A. Legal Principles

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of their constitutional right to a fair trial. 

State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). In such a claim, the defendant 

must show (1) that the prosecutor made improper comments and (2) that the comments were 

prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759-60, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Prejudicial comments 

are those with a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. Id. at 760.

We review a prosecutor’s comments during closing argument in the context of the entire 

case. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 453, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Although prosecutors have 

“wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence,” they may not shift the burden of 

proof to the defense or comment on the defendant’s failure to present evidence. Id. at 443.

Because Pevan failed to object at trial, the errors he complains of are waived unless he 

establishes that the misconduct was “so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not 

have cured the resulting prejudice.” Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. To do so, he must show that (1) 

no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect of the misconduct and (2) there 

is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury’s verdict. Id. at 761. Our primary

focus is on whether the prejudice caused by the misconduct could have been cured. Id. at 762.

B. Right to silence and burden of proof

Pevan argues that the prosecutor improperly commented on his silence and improperly 

shifted the burden of proof. Specifically, he complains that the prosecutor implied the jury had 
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been provided all of the evidence it could consider and could consider nothing but that evidence 

(i.e. “ ‘[y]ou don’t have any other evidence than that, none,’ ” and “ ‘[t]hat’s the evidence you 

have. That’s it.’ ”). Br. of Appellant at 24, 26 (quoting VRP at 489, 491).  

Pevan first argues that these remarks improperly commented on his silence because Pevan 

was the only person who could have disputed Armga’s account of what occurred. The State 

responds that the prosecutor’s statements were not in reference to the defendant’s failure to testify. 

The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution bars the State from commenting 

on a defendant’s failure to testify at trial. State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 704-05, 927 P.2d 235 

(1996). We consider two factors to decide whether a prosecutor has improperly commented on the 

defendant’s failure to testify:

(1) ‘whether the prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment on’ 
the defendant’s exercise of his right not to testify and (2) whether the jury would 
‘naturally and necessarily’ interpret the statement as a comment on the defendant’s 
silence.

State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 307, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted)

(quoting State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 331, 804 P.2d 10 (1991)), abrogated on other grounds 

by In re Pers. Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002). Prosecutors generally 

may state that certain testimony is undenied without commenting on who could have denied it or 

emphasizing the defendant’s silence. State v. Ramirez, 49 Wn. App. 332, 336, 742 P.2d 726 (1987);

State v. Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 729, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995).

When viewed in context, the prosecutor made these comments to argue that Pevan was the 

same person Armga saw on his security camera footage trying to break into the business. The 

prosecutor said “[Armga] testified that when he got there, he actually confronted the individual 

that he saw on the video still dressed in all black wearing the backpack. You don’t have any other 
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evidence than that, none.” VRP at 489 (emphasis added). The prosecutor continued, “Mr. Armga 

confronted the defendant at the location of his business wearing the backpack that he observed, 

the same person trying to pry the door. That’s the evidence you have. That’s it.” Id. at 491 

(emphasis added).

We disagree with Pevan that he was the only individual who could have contradicted this 

portion of Armga’s testimony. Armga had testified that he saw someone with the same clothing, 

backpack, and mask that he had seen in the security video. It is true that Pevan could have 

contradicted this testimony, but so could anyone else who saw the video and saw Pevan’s 

appearance that night. For example, Officer Nissen saw both the video and Pevan’s appearance 

and could have described what he saw.1 Therefore, it is not clear that the prosecutor manifestly 

intended to comment on Pevan’s failure to testify. Neither is it clear that the jury would naturally 

and necessarily have interpreted the prosecutor’s comments as referring to the defendant’s silence.

We conclude that the prosecutor did not impermissibly comment on Pevan’s silence.

Pevan next argues that the prosecutor’s comments shifted the burden of proof to him 

because the remarks implied to the jury that if Pevan did not produce any evidence, the jury could 

rely only on the State’s evidence rather than rely on any lack of evidence in reaching its verdict. 

“Generally, a prosecutor cannot comment on the lack of defense evidence because the 

defendant has no duty to present evidence.” State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 652, 81 P.3d 830 

(2003). However, prosecutors may discuss the improbability or lack of evidentiary support for the 

defense theory of the case. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The “mere 

1 Officer Nissen described Pevan’s appearance as a male dressed in all black with a backpack and 
testified to seeing the video. 
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mention that defense evidence is lacking does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct or shift the 

burden of proof to the defense.” State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553 (2009).

When viewed in the context of the prosecutor’s entire argument, the comments did not 

imply that Pevan had the burden to rebut the State’s evidence. Rather, the comments referred to 

certain pieces of evidence that were undisputed. For example, when the prosecutor said the jury

“d[id]n’t have any other evidence than that, none,” he was indicating that no one contradicted 

Armga’s testimony about Pevan’s appearance matching the individual he saw on the video. VRP 

at 489. The other comment, viewed in context, refers to the same testimony. 

Moreover, Pevan, in order to overcome waiver of these claims, must show that these 

arguments, had they been objected to, could not have been obviated by a curative instruction. 

Pevan fails to make this showing. The jury was instructed that Pevan had no duty to testify and 

that his decision not to testify could not be used against him in any way. Had Pevan’s counsel 

believed that a more emphatic or expansive instruction regarding the defendant’s silence was 

needed one could have been given that would have eliminated any potential prejudice. 

Likewise, the jury was instructed that the State alone bore the burden of proving the charges 

beyond a reasonable doubt and that Pevan had no burden of proof. The jury was further instructed 

that a reasonable doubt could arise from the evidence or the lack of evidence. Jurors are presumed 

to follow the trial court’s instructions. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 766. A curative instruction reminding 

the jury of these principles, even assuming one was needed, could have obviated any potential 

prejudice from these remarks. 
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Pevan, for his part, does not even address the curability of these allegedly improper 

arguments.2 Because any prejudice engendered by these remarks could have been remedied by a 

curative instruction, Pevan’s claims are waived.3

C. Misstatements of the evidence

Pevan contends that the prosecutor misstated key pieces of evidence. He complains that 

the prosecutor indicated that Armga “ ‘actually confronted the individual’ ” that he saw on his 

surveillance video at the back door of Armga’s business. Br. of Appellant at 28 (quoting VRP at 

489). In Pevan’s view, this incorrectly characterized the facts as if Pevan was caught in the act at 

the scene of the crime. The State responds that the prosecutor did not say Armga confronted Pevan 

at the back door, but rather spoke more broadly about the confrontation. 

We hold that the prosecutor did not misstate facts and thereby commit flagrant and ill 

intentioned misconduct. It appears the complained of comments were intended to argue two 

reasonable inferences: first, that Pevan was the same individual in the video, and second, that 

2 Pevan contends that these remarks should be viewed as constitutional error, that prejudice should 
be presumed, and that this court should apply the overwhelming untainted evidence test from State 
v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), in evaluating his prosecutorial misconduct 
claims. Pevan omits, in his brief, that our supreme court in Emery expressly rejected the application 
of the constitutional harmless error test in evaluating prejudice in prosecutorial misconduct claims 
and has since then repeatedly reaffirmed that the test set forth in Emery is the controlling test. 
Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 765; see State v. Scherf, 192 Wn.2d 350, 396, 429 P.3d 776 (2018); State v. 
Loughbom, 196 Wn.2d 64, 70, 74, 470 P.3d 499 (2020); State v. Crossguns, 199 Wn.2d 282, 299, 
505 P.3d 529 (2022). The narrow exception to this rule is found in cases where the prosecutorial 
misconduct at issue involves improper appeals to racial bias. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 
680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). In those cases, “we will vacate the conviction unless it appears beyond 
a reasonable doubt that the misconduct did not affect the jury’s verdict.” Id.

3 Furthermore, even if Pevan’s prosecutorial misconduct claims were not waived, he would need 
to show that the improper comments had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury’s verdict. 
Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760. Because Pevan has not attempted to make this showing, he would not 
be entitled to relief even if his counsel had objected to the prosecutor’s comments. 
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Armga did not contaminate the back door of the business with his odor before Jaxx began tracking. 

The first inference is reasonable because Armga testified that Pevan’s appearance and clothing 

matched what Armga saw on the video. The second inference is clear only with additional context.

The prosecutor argued:

Deputy Bagby [(handler)] said uncontaminated. The last known uncontaminated 
area where the suspect was was at the back door. When did Mr. Armga say he went 
to the back door? We know he went when he came back, saw the damage. He 
testified to that. He testified that when he got there, he actually confronted the 
individual that he saw on the video still dressed in all black wearing the backpack. 
You don’t have any other evidence than that, none. And he runs away exactly where 
Jaxx goes, not where Ms. Faulkner went. Where the individual dressed in black 
wearing the backpack went is where Jaxx went. You have no evidence of where 
Ms. Faulkner went. You have all the evidence of where the man dressed in black 
later identified as Mr. Pevan went. It’s exactly where Jaxx went.

VRP at 489-90.

In reviewing the testimony, “when he came back” refers to Armga returning to the back 

door of the business after interacting with Pevan, Faulkner, and police officers. See id. at 297-98.

The statement “when he got there” refers to Armga circling to the front of the business park and 

confronting Pevan, who was wearing dark clothing and a gray backpack. See id. at 292-93. This 

would have been reasonably clear to the jury because Pevan’s closing argument focused on Jaxx’s 

tracking and suggested that both Armga and Faulkner could have left odors on the back door. 

Therefore, the complained of comments refer not to the location of the confrontation, but rather 

argue the reasonable inference that Jaxx was tracking the scent of whoever attempted to break into 

the back door of the business. The prosecutor did not misstate the evidence.

Moreover, even if the prosecutor misstated evidence, he mitigated any prejudice by 

reminding the jury that attorney comments are not evidence and explaining, “if at any time I 

misstate or reference something that’s not in agreement collectively with your memory or notes, 
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it is not intentional. Please defer to your memory and notes.” Id. at 467. And any potential prejudice 

engendered by these remarks could have been remedied by a curative instruction. Therefore, 

Pevan’s contention that the prosecutor misstated evidence is waived.

D. Bolstering

Pevan argues that the prosecutor improperly bolstered the testimony of State witnesses. He 

complains that the prosecutor said “ ‘Officer Nissen comes and does the best job he can under the 

circumstances. He talked about it. Yelm police has low resources right now. There’s nobody else.’ 

” Br. of Appellant at 37 (quoting VRP at 478-79). Further, he complains that the prosecutor said 

“there’s no reason to discount what Mr. Armga said that he saw” in the unrecorded live feed. VRP 

at 468. He also takes issue with the prosecutor’s comment that the witnesses “ ‘came in and did 

the best they could.’ ” Id. at 36 (quoting VRP at 467). The State responds that the prosecutor was 

simply restating the evidence and inferences that could be made from it. 

A prosecutor may not express their personal opinion or belief about the credibility of a 

witness. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 443. However, prosecutors may argue the credibility of 

witnesses if based on reasonable inferences from the evidence. Id. at 448. The jury is the sole judge 

of whether a witness’s testimony is credible, and the jury was plainly instructed as such. Id.at 443-

44.

Here, the statements taken in context do not express the prosecutor’s personal opinion 

about witness credibility. When the prosecutor said “Officer Nissen comes and does the best job 

he can under the circumstances,” the comment in context referred to Nissen’s testimony that he 

was the only officer on duty and had to call for backup. VRP at 478. When the prosecutor said 

“there’s no reason to discount what Mr. Armga said that he saw” the prosecutor was arguing a 
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reasonable inference based on the fact that no witness contradicted Armga’s testimony and that 

Armga’s actions were consistent with what he said he saw on the live feed. Id. at 468. And finally, 

the comment that witnesses “came in and did the best they could” came immediately after 

informing the jury, “you are the sole judges of the credibility of those witnesses and what interest 

they may have.” Id. at 467.

We agree with the State that the prosecutor did not improperly bolster State witnesses, and 

even if it did Pevan has not shown that the bolstering could not have been remedied by a curative 

instruction.4 Furthermore, Pevan has not shown a substantial likelihood that this alleged 

misconduct affected the jury’s verdict in light of the substantial evidence pointing to Pevan’s guilt. 

Thus, this prosecutorial misconduct claim is waived.

E. Cumulative Effect of Misconduct

Pevan argues that the cumulative effect of repeated instances of improper remarks warrant 

reversal even where each one, standing alone, would not warrant reversal. We reject this invitation 

to reverse because the prosecutorial misconduct claims, as we note above, are waived. They are 

waived both because the remarks in question were not improper (which also negates any assertion 

that their cumulative effect warrants reversal), and because even if they were, any prejudice could 

have been obviated by a curative instruction. 

4 Here again, if Pevan had overcome waiver by demonstrating that the prosecutor’s remarks could 
not have been obviated by a curative instruction, he would still need to show a substantial 
likelihood the misconduct affected the verdict. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760. Despite the occasional 
conflation of these principles in case law, these are different showings. State v. Gouley, 19 Wn. 
App. 2d 185, 201, 494 P.3d 458 (2021), review denied, 198 Wash. 2d 1041 (2022) (citing Emery, 
174 Wn.2d at 764 n.14). Because Pevan has not attempted to make this showing, he would not be 
entitled to relief even if his counsel had objected to the prosecutor’s comments.
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II. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Pevan contends that defense counsel’s failure to object to the instances of alleged 

misconduct he identifies above constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. A defendant arguing 

ineffective assistance of counsel must show (1) deficient representation and (2) prejudice. State v. 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Deficient representation is that which 

falls below an objective standard of reasonableness in the circumstances. Id. Prejudice requires 

showing a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the proceeding would have a 

different result. Id. at 335.

We begin with a strong presumption that counsel’s performance was effective and we 

examine the entire record below to determine if counsel was ineffective. Id. Having found no 

instances of improper argument by the prosecutor, we hold that counsel did not perform deficiently 

in declining to object to the prosecutor’s remarks. We therefore reject Pevan’s claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel.

We affirm Pevan’s conviction. 

III. CRIME VICTIM PENALTY ASSESSMENT

Effective July 1, 2023, courts may not impose the VPA on indigent defendants. RCW 

10.01.160(3). Courts also must waive any previously imposed VPA on the motion of an indigent 

defendant. RCW 7.68.035(5)(b). Although this change in the law took effect after Pevan’s

resentencing, it applies to Pevan because this case is on direct appeal. See State v. Ramirez, 191 

Wn.2d 732, 748-49, 426 P.3d 714 (2018).
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Pevan declared that he did not have money to hire a private attorney and was found indigent 

for purposes of appointing counsel.5 The State does not concede that Pevan is indigent and notes 

that no finding of indigency was made at the time of sentencing, but does not oppose remand for 

consideration of the VPA issue. Further, the record contains insufficient evidence for us to 

determine whether the court would have found him indigent based on the operative definition of 

indigency if it considered the question at that time. See RCW 7.68.035(5)(b), RCW 10.01.160(3), 

10.101.010(3)(a)-(c). We therefore must remand6 for the court to consider whether to waive 

Pevan’s VPA pursuant to RCW 7.68.035(5)(b).

CONCLUSION

We affirm Pevan’s conviction but remand for the court to determine whether to waive 

Pevan’s VPA pursuant to RCW 7.68.035(5)(b).

5 Pevan also indicated that he received some form of public assistance, but it is not clear what 
assistance he received so we cannot determine whether he meets the criteria in RCW 
10.101.010(3)(a).

6 Rather than remanding to strike the fee, the statutes require us to remand for consideration of the 
issue. We cannot rely on the orders appointing counsel because counsel could have been (and 
appears likely to have been) appointed based on statutory criteria that is specifically excluded from 
the relevant definition of indigency. 

The operative VPA statute, RCW 7.68.035(5)(b), incorporates the definition of indigent 
contained in RCW 10.01.160(3). Subsection (a) of that definition, in turn, refers to the indigency 
criteria contained in RCW 10.101.010(3)(a)-(c), but excludes RCW 10.101.010(3)(d) (“Unable to 
pay the anticipated cost of counsel for the matter before the court because his or her available funds 
are insufficient to pay any amount for the retention of counsel.”).

Although the record contains three orders appointing counsel, it contains only one 
screening form, on which Pevan indicated that he did not have money to hire a private attorney. 
Therefore, counsel appears to have been appointed pursuant to the criteria contained in RCW 
10.101.010(3)(d), under which Pevan would not qualify for the VPA waiver. Pevan did not fill out 
the portion of the form that asked about his employment, income, assets, dependents, or expenses, 
so we cannot rely on another part of the relevant definition.
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A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered.

CRUSER, A.C.J.
We concur:

LEE, J.

PRICE, J.
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